
1 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

___________________________________________ 

 

SENECA NATION OF INDIANS, 

 

    Petitioner, 

 

 v.       Index No. 19-cv-00735-WMS 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK, 

 

    Respondent. 

__________________________________________ 

 

SENECA NATION’S SECOND NOTICE OF NEW FACTUAL DEVELOPMENT  

IN SUPPORT OF ITS PENDING RULE 60(b) MOTION 

 

 In its Motion of April 23, 2021, filed pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b), 

Dkt. No. 40, the Seneca Nation (the “Nation”) argued that relief from this Court’s judgment of 

November 12, 2019, is warranted because requiring the Nation to make renewal-period 

exclusivity payments to the State would place the Nation in violation of the Indian Gaming 

Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701–2721 (“IGRA”), and subject it to enforcement action by the 

National Indian Gaming Commission (“NIGC”).  In support of its Motion, the Nation submitted 

correspondence from the Department of the Interior (the “Department”), dated April 15, 2021, 

which explained that the Department has never reviewed the renewal-period exclusivity 

payments to determine whether they are lawful under IGRA, and that the Department has serious 

concerns about their legality.  See Dkt. No. 40-1 at 9–13.  The Nation explained the hardship it 

would endure if forced to make non-compliant payments rendering it vulnerable to NIGC 

sanctions.  Id. at 15–17.  
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On September 16, 2021, the Nation sought, and was granted, leave to file a Notice of 

New Factual Development, Dkt. No. 49; Dkt. No. 50, regarding a letter from NIGC to the 

Nation, dated September 16, 2021 (“NIGC Letter”).  See Dkt. No. 51-1.  The NIGC Letter, 

signed by its Chief Compliance Officer, advised the Nation that the NIGC had received a letter 

dated September 15, 2021, from Bryan Newland, the recently confirmed Assistant Secretary for 

Indian Affairs, referring the matter of renewal-period payments to the NIGC for investigation.  

The NIGC Letter advised the Nation of “the Department’s ‘serious concerns’ that the payments 

were not previously reviewed by the Department,” id, and stated that as the agency with 

enforcement authority under IGRA, the NIGC is “conducting an inquiry into whether the 

revenue share payment is consistent with the requirements of IGRA,” id. at 3–4.  The letter 

further indicated that the NIGC shares the Department’s concerns that the renewal-period 

exclusivity payments “may violate IGRA’s requirement that the Nation maintain the sole 

proprietary interest in its gaming operations.”  Id. at 1. 

At the time the Notice of New Factual Development, Dkt. No. 51, was filed, the Nation 

had not seen, and the Nation had not been aware of the letter until seeing the NIGC’s reference 

to it, the Department’s September 15th letter to the NIGC (Attach. A).  The Nation requested a 

copy of the letter and received it on September 22, 2021.1  The letter reiterates in unmistakable 

terms the Department’s concern “that a final judgment against the Nation could result in a 

violation of IGRA” because the Department has “not determined whether the State has offered 

any meaningful concessions to the Nation nor . . . determined whether the value of any 

concessions provide substantial economic benefits to the Nation in a manner justifying the 

 
1 Attachment B is a copy of email communications between the Nation’s General Counsel, 

Michele Mitchell, requesting a copy of the Newland letter, and the response from Jennifer 

Lawson at NIGC enclosing the letter.   

Case 1:19-cv-00735-WMS   Document 55   Filed 09/27/21   Page 2 of 5



3 
 

revenue sharing payments.”  Id. at 2.  It likewise highlights the “requirement that [the Nation] 

maintain the sole proprietary interest in its gaming operations and be the primary beneficiary of 

its gaming enterprise.”  Id.  “Because of NIGC’s responsibility for enforcing IGRA violations,” 

Assistant Secretary Newland referred the matter to NIGC for further review.  Id. 

In its response to the Nation’s filing of the NIGC letter, the State asserts that the Nation 

has “manufactured purported new facts” for the Court, Dkt. No. 52 at 2, a charge it repeats three 

more times in a three-page document, id. at 3–4.  The Nation and undersigned counsel take 

serious exception to the State’s assertions.  They are not in the business of manufacturing facts, 

and the Department’s most recent letter should put to bed the State’s claims.  The clear, non-

manufactured facts are these:  The Department of the Interior, through its highest-ranking official 

charged with the administration of Indian affairs, has referred to the National Indian Gaming 

Commission, the agency charged with enforcement of IGRA’s terms, the question whether the 

payment to the State of renewal-period payments would violate IGRA’s terms and has expressed 

serious concerns that it would.  The NIGC has notified the Nation that, in response to the 

Department’s referral, it has the matter under active investigation, and has likewise expressed 

serious concerns about the legality of such payments.  While the State argues that the possibility 

of sanctions arising out of the NIGC’s ongoing investigation “remains entirely speculative and 

hypothetical,” id. at 3–4, this contention simply wishes away the substance and gravity of the 

Department’s referral and the NIGC’s subsequent communication to the Nation, which taken 

together make it abundantly clear that the agency tasked with enforcing IGRA is actively 

reviewing the matter and is seriously concerned that requiring renewal-period payments would 

violate that law.  See, e.g., Citizens Against Casino Gambling in Erie Cty. v. Hogen, No. 07-CV-

0451S, 2008 WL 4057101, at *3 (W.D.N.Y. Aug. 26, 2008) (Skretny, J.) (IGRA’s conferral of 
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enforcement authority on NIGC “is mandatory, it connotes immediacy …. [and] directs the 

NIGC to act upon any indication of the existence of a violation; it does not give the Commission 

discretion to ignore violations or choose not to issue a [Notice of Violation].”).  The State may 

not like these facts or their implications, but it cannot dispel them through entirely misplaced 

claims of conspiracy and fabrication. 

Likewise off the mark is the State’s charge that the Nation improperly “solicited ex 

parte” the NIGC Letter.  Dkt. No. 51 at 3.  Assistant Secretary Newland’s letter makes it clear 

that it is the Interior Department that referred the matter of renewal-period payments to the 

NIGC for investigation.  The Assistant Secretary’s letter further makes it clear that before doing 

so “the Department invited the parties to submit the revenue sharing provisions for review by the 

Secretary,” but “[t]he State did not respond to the Department’s invitation.”  Attach. A at 2.  The 

State’s flat refusal to engage with the Department to address the legality of renewal-period 

payments meant that any communications between the Nation and the Department, or the NIGC, 

would—by the State’s own choice—occur without State involvement.  In any event, federal 

agencies, including the Department and the NIGC, regularly confer directly with Indian tribes; 

and a host of New York state agencies would certainly be surprised by the State counsel’s 

current characterizations of agency communications with regulated entities about potential 

violations of the law as inappropriate, particularly where another interested entity flatly refuses 

to communicate with the agency. 

Finally, the State has again retreated to its stale arguments that the Nation is “mount[ing] 

a collateral attack on the Judgment and the Awards.”  Dkt. No. 52 at 2.  But the arbitration 

decision does not resolve the issue before the Court on the Nation’s Rule 60(b) motion, which is 

whether agency review of renewal-period payments actually took place as required by law.  Both 
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the Department and the NIGC, currently engaged in the review process, have now clearly said 

that it did not and that, as a consequence, serious violations of federal law might well inhere in 

the payments being demanded by the State.  The State invites this Court to ignore the resulting 

agency investigation and the potential violation of the governing federal statute on which that 

investigation is centered.  There is no “contempt,” id. at 3, involved in the Nation’s request that 

the Court decline the invitation and instead allow the agency review process to play out as 

required by IGRA.  Good cause exists for this Court to stay enforcement of its judgment of 

November 12, 2019, until the NIGC has determined the legality of the renewal-period 

exclusivity payments under IGRA. 

 

Dated this 27th day of September, 2021  Respectfully submitted, 

 

By:  /s Carol E. Heckman   

       Carol E. Heckman, Esq. 

       Lee M. Redeye, Esq. 

       Counsel for Seneca Nation of Indians 

       50 Fountain Plaza, Suite 1700 

       Buffalo, New York 14202 

       Telephone:  (716) 853-5100 

       Facsimile:  (716) 853-5199 

checkman@lippes.com  

lredeye@lippes.com 

 

Riyaz A. Kanji, Esq. 

       David A. Giampetroni, Esq. 

       Kanji & Katzen P.L.L.C. 

       303 Detroit Street, Suite 400 

       Ann Arbor, Michigan 48104 

       Telephone:  (734) 769-5400 

       Facsimile:  (734) 769-2701 

       rkanji@kanjikatzen.com 

       dgiampetroni@kanjikatzen.com 
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